# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

ROBERT COOPER,

Defendant and Appellant

No. S273134 2d. Crim. B304490 Sup. Ct. No. TA140718

Second Appellate District, Division Six, Case No. B304490 Santa Barbara County Superior Court, Case No. TA140718 The Honorable Allen Webster, Jr.

# APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Elizabeth K. Horowitz State Bar No. 298326

#### **ISSUE ON REVIEW**

 Must any of defendant's sentencing enhancements be vacated due to recent statutory changes requiring that the offenses necessary to establish a "'pattern of criminal gang activity'... commonly benefited a criminal street gang, and the common benefit from the offense is more than reputational" (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (e)(1), as amended by Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 3)?

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Assembly Bill No. 333, which took effect during the current appeal, amended Penal Code section 186.22 to require proof of additional elements to establish a gang enhancement.<sup>1</sup> (See Stats. 2021, ch. 699 (hereafter "A.B. 333").) Under the new law, to demonstrate a pattern of criminal gang activity for the purpose of establishing a criminal street gang, it is no longer sufficient to show that alleged predicate crimes were committed by fellow gang members within a certain time frame. Now, under amended section 186.22, predicates must also be shown to have commonly benefitted the gang, and to have done so in a manner that was more than reputational.

Here, the Court of Appeal properly found this newlyamended law applies retroactively to appellant's non-final case. Meaning, it is undisputed that appellant's jury was never required to find certain elements of the now-applicable gang enhancement proven. The Court of Appeal also properly cited to *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18 [87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705] for its review of this federal due process issue. The Court of Appeal erred, however, when it found the inadequate legal theory presented to the jury was harmless thereunder.

Specifically, the Court of Appeal concluded that because the type of predicate crimes alleged (which included a robbery and a narcotics sale) were among the types listed as the gang's primary activities, and because the "benefit to the gang of robbery and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise noted, all further references are to the Penal Code.

sale of narcotics is more than reputational," the "evidence of gang involvement [was] beyond dispute," and there "was no reasonable doubt that the jury would have found the enhancement true had it been instructed with the amendments to section 186.22." (Opinion 14.) This analysis, however, was faulty, for two main reasons.

First, the Court of Appeal's conclusion that the evidence supporting A.B. 333's new elements was "beyond dispute" based on the aspects of the record that it cited was premised on a flawed understanding of the law. For example, the fact that an alleged predicate is the type of crime included among the gang's primary activities does *not* satisfy the new elemental requirement that the predicates have "commonly benefitted" the gang. In addition, when the court found that the "benefit to the gang of robbery and sale of narcotics is more than reputational," it appears to have reasoned that because these alleged predicates could both render a financial benefit, one could assume they benefitted the gang in a financial (i.e., non-reputational) manner. But the plain terms of the new law require that the "common benefit of the offense" to the gang be more than reputational – and while the financial nature of a crime alone might demonstrate an inherent non-reputational benefit to the perpetrator, such limited information does not show that the crime benefitted *the gang*.

Accordingly, the court's understanding of what type of evidence can support the new elements required under section 186.22, subdivision (e), was based on a faulty understanding of

the new statute's plain terms. And, as will also be explained below, the lower court's interpretation is inconsistent with several published cases addressing A.B. 333, as well as the legislative intent behind the new law, as reflected in the bill itself and its legislative history.

Second, the Court of Appeal's harmlessness assessment under *Chapman* was significantly flawed. For while the court properly cited to *Chapman*, it failed to articulate the actual standard that applies when a jury like appellant's has failed to find certain elements of a charge proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Because an error like this implicates a defendant's federal constitutional right to have a jury decide every element of the charge made against him, it is not enough to simply find some, or even strong, evidence that could support a conviction under a properly-given instruction. Rather, the question is whether the guilty verdict rendered in the trial was *surely unattributable to the error* – which only occurs when, for example, the omitted elements were otherwise proven as a matter of law, or where they were uncontested *and* supported by overwhelming evidence – i.e., a much higher standard than what the appellate court applied here, and one that is not met by the record in this case.

Indeed, the Court of Appeal cited only to the evidence discussed above – showing that the alleged predicates were among the gang's primary activities, and that they were financial in nature – to find that it was clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have found the new elements proven if it had been properly instructed. As explained, that evidence does not

actually support the new requirements under A.B. 333, which was the court's first error. But this also shows how the court erred by misapplying *Chapman* in this context, because *even if that evidence did* support the newly-required elements, that would *still* not be enough to find a lack of prejudice, since the existence of evidence in a record supporting omitted elements is *not* sufficient by itself to render a failure to instruct harmless. Thus, the court's error was twofold; it first misinterpreted the amended law and the new requirements thereunder, and it then misapplied *Chapman* when assessing the inadequate instruction given, all of which led to a doubly-flawed finding of harmless error, and a violation of appellant's constitutional right to have a jury decide every element of the charge alleged against him.

Lastly, as will also be explained below, the Court of Appeal's decision is an anomaly among the breadth of opinions considering the meaning of A.B. 333 and the type of prejudice analysis that must apply in a case like appellant's, all of which dictate that reversal in a case like the current one is required. (See e.g. *People v. E.H.* (2022) 75 Cal.App.5th 467, 476-80; *People v. Sek* (2022) 74 Cal.App.5th 657, 664-70; *People v. Lopez* (2021) 73 Cal.App.5th 327, 343-46; *People v. Rodriguez* (2022) 75 Cal.App.5th 816, 822-23; *People v. Vasquez* (2022) 74 Cal.App.5th 1021, 1032-33.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An information alleged that on October 24, 2010, appellant committed conspiracy to commit murder (§ 182, subd. (a)(1)) [Count 1]; murder of victim Nicos Mathis (§ 187, subd. (a)) [Count

2]; attempted murder of victim Monique Peterson (§§ 664/187, subd. (a)) [Count 3]; attempted murder of victim Karrisha Brown (§§ 664/187, subd. (a)) [Count 4]; and attempted murder of victim John Doe (§§ 664/187, subd. (a)) [Count 5]. With respect to Counts 1 through 5, principal firearm allegations were alleged under section 12022.53, subdivisions (b), (c), (d), and (e)(1), and it was alleged the crimes were committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with a gang, pursuant to section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1)(C). The information also alleged one prior strike conviction pursuant to section 211. (1CT 114-21.)<sup>2</sup>

Following a trial, on November 30, 2018, appellant was acquitted of Counts 3 through 5. The jury hung on Counts 1 and 2, with respect to which the court declared a mistrial. (1CT 185-97; 2RT 9-11.)

A retrial was held on Count 2 only (the murder count), with the same gun and gang enhancements alleged. On February 8, 2019, the jury found appellant guilty of first-degree murder, and found all the firearm and gang enhancements true. (3RT 2788-89; 2CT 299A, 302-03.)

On December 23, 2019, the court sentenced appellant. He admitted to the alleged strike prior, and the court sentenced him to 75 years to life, comprised of 25 years to life on Count 2, doubled to 50 years to life for his strike prior, plus 25 years to life pursuant to section 12022.53, subdivisions (d) and (e)(1). (3RT 4203-04, 4225-26, 4229.) The court stayed the remaining gun

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "CT" and "RT" refer respectively to the Clerk's and Reporter's Transcripts of proceedings conducted in this case.

enhancements and the gang enhancement. (3RT 4229; 2CT 360-63.)

During appellant's appeal, and after briefing was complete, A.B. 333 became law. On November 10, 2022, the appellate court requested supplemental briefing regarding the application of A.B. 333 to appellant's case, which was filed by both parties. On January 14, 2022, in an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeal affirmed appellant's convictions and enhancements in full.<sup>3</sup>

On February 11, 2022, appellant filed a petition for review. On April 11, 2022, per the Court's request, the People filed an answer to the petition for review. On April 14, 2022, appellant filed a reply, and on May 11, 2022, the Court granted review on the issue described above.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. The Shooting

Monique Peterson was the only witness to the crime to testify. She explained that on the afternoon of October 12, 2012, she drove to Gonzalez Park in Compton with her friends, Nicos, Karrisha ("KK"), and Terrell, to attend a birthday gathering. (2RT 1873-74.) Another friend, "Hit Man," was at the park as well. (2RT 1875.) Monique and Nicos were close family friends. They and KK were members of the Mob Piru gang. (2RT 1871-72; 1922-23.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeal Opinion is referred to herein as "Opn."

Appellant was also at the park, and Monique identified him as a member of the Leuders Park gang. There were no other Leuders Park members there. (2RT 1871-76, 1931, 1933.)

After arriving at the park, Monique and KK drove to a nearby Taco Bell. While they were gone, Nicos called Monique and said he was getting into it with people at the park, prompting her and KK to quickly return. (2RT 1878-81.)

Monique stated that Nico approached appellant, and they started "gang banging." At the time, their gangs did not get along. But appellant was not a fighter. Appellant walked away and entered a gym located in the park. Monique noticed he was holding his phone, but did not see him use it. (2RT 1881-83, 1888, 1945-1949, 1951.)

Around 20 minutes later, Monique and her friends were in Nicos's car getting ready to leave. She saw a gold GS Regal drive into the park. (2RT 1885, 1960.) Monique knew the passengers of the Regal, known as Roach and Skip. She was afraid of them and wanted to leave. (2RT 1886-89.) But Nicos wanted to wait for Hit Man, who had left the park with someone else. (2RT 1885, 1889-90.)

Nicos exited the park and drove onto the street where they were waiting for Hit Man when Monique suddenly heard gun shots. She briefly saw two cars just a few feet from their vehicle, including the gold Regal, and a burgundy Infiniti. (2RT 1890-93, 1896-98, 1939, 1954.) The gunshots were coming from the Infinity. Her testimony conflicted as which seats the shots were coming from. (2RT 1898, 1913-14, 1922.)

At trial, Monique stated she saw three people in the burgundy car – Mousey, Honcho, and appellant.<sup>4</sup> (2RT 1893-94, 1955-56.) She also said she saw two guns. She did not remember where each person was sitting. (*Ibid.*; 2RT 1894, 1914, 1939.) There were discrepancies, however, between Monique's testimony and her police interviews, particularly as to whether she saw appellant in the burgundy car. For example, in one prior statement, she asserted that Honcho and Mousey were in the car, but she did *not* know who else was in it. (2RT 1937-38, 1935-36, 1940-43; 3RT 2482-83, 2499-2501.)

After the shooting stopped, the Regal rammed into Nicos's car on the front passenger side. (2RT 1898-99.) Nicos had been shot four times and killed. Monique left the scene. (2RT 1901-03.)

Monique testified that she left the gang in 2012 because of this incident and was no longer a member. (2RT 1925, 1930, 1959-60.)

# B. The Pursuit Of The Burgundy Vehicle And Detainment Of The Passengers

On the day of the shooting, Detectives Steve Fernandez and John Werner were on patrol near Gonzalez Park. They were conducting a traffic stop when they heard gunshots. They released the individuals they were detaining and started looking for the source. (2RT 1962-63, 1979-81.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In the record Mousey and Honcho are at times called by their real names, Dennis Keahey and Lawrence Tate, respectively.

As they drove westbound, they saw two vehicles heading southbound at a high speed, including a burgundy Infinity. They attempted a head-on traffic stop, but the cars kept going and drove around the patrol car. The officers turned around and pursued the burgundy vehicle. (2RT 1965-67, 1981-82.)

The pursuit continued for 3-4 miles. At one point, a handgun was thrown from a window on the burgundy car's passenger side. (2RT 1967-69, 1976, 1982-83.)

The chase ended on a dead-end street, when the driver (Mousey) opened and rolled out of the front door without stopping the car, which coasted down the block and crashed into a parked van. (2RT 1971-72, 1983-84.) Werner jumped out of the patrol car and chased Mousey, detaining him quickly. (2RT 1984, 1986.)

Meanwhile, Fernandez exited the patrol car and ran toward the burgundy car. When the car collided with the van, a passenger (Honcho) exited the car and ran. He was quickly detained by Fernandez. (2RT 1973-75, 1978-79.)

Sergeant Robert Renteria was assigned to an airship (helicopter) that day and observed the pursuit. He saw the driver exit the vehicle while it was still moving. When the car collided with the parked van, he saw two more people run out. (2RT 1987-91.) He watched one passenger, later identified as appellant, run into a yard and then a cemetery. He kept a visual on appellant, who was eventually detained by another officer. (2RT 1991-95, 1996-99.)

#### C. Forensic Evidence

A gunshot residue (GSR) test showed that appellant had one particle of GSR on his person. (3RT 2166.)

A revolver was recovered from the area where the officers saw one thrown from the vehicle. (3RT 2143-44.) An expert opined that two of the bullets recovered at the scene were fired from the recovered revolver, as was the bullet fragment recovered from the victim's body. (3RT 2158-60.) A box of bullet casings was found in the trunk of the burgundy car, which were the same type found in the revolver. (3RT 2123-28, 2160-61.)

Neither appellant's DNA nor his fingerprints were found on the gun or the bullet casings/cartridges. (3RT 2128, 2409-15, 2421.)

#### D. Gang Expert Testimony

Joseph Sumner testified as a gang expert. He explained the history of Leuders Park, and stated that the gang's primary activities included theft, burglary, robbery, narcotics possession/sales, weapons possession/sales, assaults, and murder. (3RT 2432-33, 2444.)

Sumner stated he was familiar with appellant, who he opined had been a member of Leuder's Park since 2003 or 2004. Photos of his tattoos were presented and explained. (3RT 2455-59; People's Exhibits 31A-C.) Sumner was also familiar with Mob Piru, as well as Nicos and Monique. (3RT 2434-35.)

When given a hypothetical that was similar to the incident, Sumner opined that it was done to benefit the gang. (3RT 2460-61.) Specifically, he stated that the crime benefitted the gang by eliminating a rival (Nicos). Sumner also explained that if the gang does not retaliate in this way when a member is challenged by a rival, it will lose respect. (3RT 2460-62.)

Sumner testified further regarding two predicate crimes. The first was a robbery, committed on April 12, 2012, by Ricky Lee Vaughn, who Sumner testified was a Leuders Park gang member. (3RT 2451-52; 1CT 242-48, People's Exhibit 32.) The second was a sale of narcotics, committed on September 5, 2012, by Donald Wayne Mahan, who Sumner testified was also a Leuders Park gang member.<sup>5</sup> (3RT 2454-55; 1CT 249-54; People's Exhibit 33.) No further information regarding the alleged predicates was presented.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

# I. ALL OF DEFENDANT'S SENTENCING ENHANCEMENTS MUST BE VACATED DUE TO RECENT STATUTORY CHANGES REQUIRING THAT THE OFFENSES NECESSARY TO ESTABLISH A " 'PATTERN OF CRIMINAL GANG ACTIVITY' . . . COMMONLY BENEFITED A CRIMINAL STREET GANG, AND THE COMMON BENEFIT FROM THE OFFENSE IS MORE THAN REPUTATIONAL"

As noted, A.B. 333 amended section 186.22 to require proof of additional elements to establish a gang enhancement. Here, the appellate court properly found, and the Attorney General has not disputed, that these amendments apply retroactively to appellant's case. (See Opinion 12; *People v. E.H., supra*, 75 Cal.App.5th 467, 478; *People v. Delgado* (2022) 74 Cal.App.5th

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Note that the Court of Appeal's Opinion states the second conviction occurred in 2016, but the record shows both offenses were committed in 2012. (See Opinion 13; 1CT 242-54; People's Exhibits 32 and 33.)

1067, 1087; *People v. Lopez, supra,* 73 Cal.App.5th 327, 344; *People v. Sek, supra,* 74 Cal.App.5th 657, 667; *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740.) However, the appellate court erroneously found that the inadequate legal theory presented to the jury regarding the gang enhancement amounted to harmless error. This is not so, and when the court reached this faulty conclusion, it did so in violation of the statute it was applying, and in violation of appellant's constitutional right to have a jury decide every element of the charge made against him.

#### A. A.B. 333's Amendments To Section 186.22

Section 186.22 provides for enhanced punishment when a person is convicted of an enumerated felony "committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with a criminal street gang, with the specific intent to promote, further, or assist in criminal conduct by gang members[.]" (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1).)

Before A.B. 333 was enacted, the statute defined a "'criminal street gang'" as "any ongoing organization, association, or group of three or more persons, . . . having as one of its primary activities the commission of one or more [enumerated criminal acts], having a common name or common identifying sign or symbol, and whose members individually or collectively engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang activity." (§ 186.22, former subd. (f); Stats. 2017, ch. 561, § 178.) To establish a "pattern of criminal gang activity," the prosecution needed to prove only that those associated with the gang committed two or more predicate offenses within a period of three years and that the offenses were committed on separate

occasions, or by two or more persons on the same occasion. (*Menifee v. Superior Court of Santa Clara County* (2020) 57 Cal.App.5th 343, 362.) A predicate offense could be established by evidence of the charged offense, and in general it was unnecessary to prove that the predicate offenses were gangrelated. (*Ibid.*; *People v. Rodriguez, supra*, 75 Cal.App.5th 816, 822, citing *People v. Gardeley* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 605, 610 ["We disagree that the predicate offenses must be 'gang related.'"]; *People v. Garcia* (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 123, 165.)

A.B. 333 increased the evidentiary requirements to prove a gang enhancement in several respects. First, A.B. 333 narrowed the definition of " 'criminal street gang' " to "an ongoing, organized association or group of three or more persons . . . whose members *collectively* engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang activity." (§ 186.22, subd. (f), emphasis added.)

Second, A.B. 333 created stricter requirements to prove "a pattern of criminal gang activity." Under this new legislation (1) the last predicate offense must have occurred not only within three years of the prior predicate offense, but also within three years of the date of the currently charged offense, (2) the predicate offenses must have "commonly benefited a criminal street gang" and that "common benefit" must be "more than reputational," and (3) the currently charged offense cannot be used as a predicate offense. (§ 186.22, subds. (e)(1)-(2), (g); *Lopez*, *supra*, 73 Cal.App.5th 327, 345; *Rodriguez, supra*, 75 Cal.App.5th 822-823.)

The newly-amended law also provides examples of benefits that are more than reputational, including "financial gain or motivation, retaliation, targeting a perceived or actual gang rival, or intimidation or silencing of a potential current or previous witness or informant." (§ 186.22, subd. (g).)

Importantly, these amendments also affect gang-principal firearm enhancements alleged under section 12022.53, subdivision (e)(1), which are contingent on a true finding under section 186.22. (See *Lopez, supra*, 73 Cal.App.5th 327, 346-48.)

## B. Reversal Of Appellant's Gang And Principal Firearm Enhancements Is Required

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