No. S273134

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

ROBERT COOPER,

Defendant and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Division Six Case No. B304490 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. TA140718 The Honorable Allen Joseph Webster, Jr., Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

B. The *Chapman* standard governs Cooper's claim The instruction given to Cooper's jury setting out the former elements of the gang enhancement statute, while correct at the time, may now be seen as erroneous in light of AB 333's amendments and by operation of the *Estrada* rule. The parties agree that the error is reviewed for harmlessness under the *Chapman* standard. (See OBM 20-27; *People v. Wilkins* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 333, 348 [misinstruction on element of offense reviewed under *Chapman*]; see also *People v. Wright* (2006) 40 Cal.4th 81, 98-99 [assessing harmlessness of failure to give defense instruction that was retroactively applicable under *Estrada*].) Cooper's opening brief, however, articulates an overly restrictive version of that standard.

Under *Chapman*, "before a federal constitutional error can be held harmless" a reviewing court must determine "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict obtained." (*Chapman*, *supra*, 386 U.S. at p. 24.) "'To say that an error did not contribute to the verdict is to find that error unimportant in relation to everything else the jury considered on the issue in question, as revealed in the record.'" (*People v. Flood* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 494, quoting *Yates v. Evatt* (1991) 500 U.S. 391, 403.) If, after reviewing the record, a court can "conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error," it is proper to affirm. (*Neder v. United States* (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 19; accord, *People v. Mil* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 400, 417.)

Cooper claims that, when assessing instructional error under *Chapman*, a reviewing court must determine that any

omitted elements were "in some sense decided despite their omission." (OBM 22.) His argument rests in part on *Sullivan v. Louisiana* (1993) 508 U.S. 275, which held that a court applying *Chapman* must look "to the basis on which the jury actually rested its verdict" rather than speculate "whether, in a trial that occurred without the error, a guilty verdict would surely have been rendered." (*Id.* at p. 279, internal quotation marks, citation, and italics omitted; see OBM 20, 23.) But as the United States Supreme Court later recognized, "this strand of reasoning in *Sullivan* cannot be squared with our harmless-error cases." (*Neder, supra*, 527 U.S. at p. 11.)

The Court in *Neder* rejected *Sullivan*'s suggestion that a reviewing court must look to the basis on which the jury's verdict actually rested, observing that this is "simply another form of the argument that a failure to instruct on any element of the crime is not subject to harmless-error analysis." (*Neder*, *supra*, 527 U.S. at p. 17.) Instead, *Neder* held, the proper harmless-error question is whether it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." (Id. at p. 18.) The Court explained that this analysis "will often require that a reviewing court conduct a thorough examination of the record." (Id. at p. 19.) If "the court cannot conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error—for example, where the defendant contested the omitted element and raised evidence sufficient to support a contrary finding—it should not find the error harmless." (*Ibid*.) In other words, a reviewing court asks

"whether the record contains evidence that could rationally lead to a contrary finding with respect to the omitted element. If the answer to that question is 'no' . . . " then the error is harmless. (*Ibid.*) And, as this Court has confirmed, a reviewing court may consider "the entire cause, including the evidence, and . . . all relevant circumstances" in making that determination. (*People v. Aledamat* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 1, 13.)

Cooper also claims that courts have "generally" held that the omission of an instruction on an element of an offense is harmless under *Chapman* only if the missing element was proved as a matter of law or was both uncontested and supported by overwhelming evidence. (OBM 22-23.) The *Neder* Court, it is true, observed that "where a reviewing court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the omitted element was uncontested and supported by overwhelming evidence, such that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error, the erroneous instruction is properly found to be harmless." (*Neder, supra*, 527) U.S. at p. 17.) "But while this was one way to establish harmlessness, the *Neder* court did not suggest it was the only way or set out these circumstances . . . as requirements." (*People* v. Glukhoy (2022) 77 Cal.App.5th 576, 594, fn. 38.) Similarly, this Court in *Aledamat* made clear that, while affirmance would be justified where the record shows that the jury actually made findings equivalent to a proper instructional theory, that is only "one way" to satisfy the *Chapman* standard. (*Aledamat*, *supra*, 8 Cal.5th at pp. 12-13.) Fundamentally, the same general beyonda-reasonable-doubt harmlessness standard applies to all

instructional misdescriptions or omissions of the elements of an offense. (See *id.* at p. 9.)

C. Section 186.22's new statutory requirements do not alter the ordinary rule that reasonable inferences may be drawn from all the evidence

Cooper's opening brief suggests, in part, that the Legislature's narrowing of the gang enhancement statute circumscribes the scope of the evidence that may be considered in assessing section 186.22's predicate offense requirements. (OBM 29-38.) But while the Legislature, in passing AB 333, restricted the legal requirements of the gang enhancement, it did not alter ordinary evidentiary rules, including the principle that reasonable inferences may be drawn from the evidence.

Section 186.22, subdivisions (e)(1) and (f) now specify that the predicate offenses used to establish a gang's pattern of criminal activity must have commonly benefited the gang in a way that was more than reputational. And section 186.22, subdivision (g), gives examples of benefits that are more than reputational, including "financial gain or motivation, retaliation, targeting a perceived or actual gang rival, or intimidation or silencing of a potential current or previous witness or informant."

Unlike other aspects of section 186.22—such as whether a predicate offense is listed as a qualifying crime under subdivision (e)(1) or was committed within the statutory time frame—proof of a common, non-reputational benefit will frequently rely on circumstantial evidence. For example, gangs are unlikely to keep an accounting of the income from crimes that yield a financial benefit. And other extra-reputational benefits, such as targeting

a rival or intimidating a witness to thwart police, require insight into a gang's motivations that will rarely be directly disclosed.

In reaching its ultimate conclusions on issues such as those, a trier of fact is entitled to draw reasonable inferences from all the evidence and may rely on circumstantial evidence to support its findings. (See 2CT 263-264 [direct and circumstantial evidence instructions]; People v. Livingston (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1145, 1165-1167; People v. Wallace (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1032, 1094.) A trier of fact may therefore reasonably infer in a particular case that an alleged predicate offense commonly benefited a gang based, among other things, on the nature of the offense and whether it is among the gang's primary activities. For instance, an offense that by its nature involved financial gain naturally gives rise to an inference that its benefit was more than reputational. (See § 186.22, subd. (g).) And if that predicate offense is part of a gang's primary activities, that may additionally give rise to an inference that the offense provided a common, rather than individual, benefit. The plain language of section 186.22, subdivision (e), does not require that a trier of fact ignore such evidence or decline to draw such inferences.

Thus, Cooper is mistaken insofar as he suggests that assessment of a gang's predicate offenses is, as an evidentiary and analytical matter, entirely distinct from its primary activities. (OBM 30-34.)⁶ It is true that a common benefit is not

⁶ Cooper makes several arguments along these lines: that the two elements are aimed at different concepts (OBM 30-31); that consideration of a gang's primary activities in determining (continued...)

shown as a matter of law simply because a predicate offense is among a gang's primary activities. But the fact that a particular type of predicate offense is among the gang's primary activities may provide a basis for inferring that the offense commonly benefitted the gang in a way that was more than reputational. To be sure, the revised statute does not permit a gang enhancement to be found true if the predicate offenses merely personally benefitted the gang members who committed them, or benefitted the gang in a way that was merely reputational. But that does not mean, as Cooper suggests, that the statute disallows reasonable inferences based on the facts of a particular case—including inferences from the evidence about a gang's primary activities—that might inform whether a predicate offense involved a common benefit that was more than reputational.

In the same vein, Cooper invokes AB 333's legislative purpose of narrowing the scope of the gang enhancement in

^{(...}continued)

whether a predicate offense commonly benefited the gang under section 186.22, subdivision (e)(1) would render superfluous subdivision (f)'s requirement that a criminal street gang have as one of its primary activities one or more of the criminal acts listed in subdivision (e)(1) (OBM 31); that it would be improper to presume that a crime involving financial gain such as robbery or narcotics sales "inherently renders" an extra-reputational benefit to the gang, as such a presumption would obviate the requirement of section 186.22, subdivision (e)(1) that the benefit also be common to the gang as a whole (OBM 32-33); and that "gang-related conduct cannot be inferred from gang status alone" (OBM 33-34).

general and requiring a more-than-reputational common benefit in particular. (OBM 35-38; see Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 2 [statement of Legislature's declarations and findings].) He argues that, in light of that purpose, a predicate offense's benefit to "the gang as a whole . . . cannot be inferred from the financial nature of a crime alone, which, by itself, inures only to the offender, and instead it must be shown that an actual, nonreputational benefit was rendered to the organization." (OBM 37.)

In enacting AB 333, the Legislature accomplished its goal of restricting the applicability of the gang enhancement by altering the statutory elements in a variety of ways, including through the addition of the requirement that predicate offenses must have "commonly benefited a criminal street gang, and the common benefit from the offenses is more than reputational." (§ 186.22, subd. (e)(1).) But nothing about AB 333's legislative purpose suggests that the bill was also designed to rigidly restrict the evaluation of evidence in the way Cooper suggests. (See Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. v. Moreno (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1109, 1167 [no statute "pursues its broad purpose at all costs" and "it frustrates rather than effectuates legislative intent simplistically to assume that *whatever* furthers the statute's primary objective must be the law," italics original, internal quotation marks omitted]; see also People v. Morales (2016) 63 Cal.4th 399, 408 [observing that Proposition 47's purpose to save money does not require that the legislation be interpreted "in every way that might maximize any monetary savings"].) Rather, reasonable inferences may be

drawn by a trier of fact in determining whether the "common benefit" and "more than reputational" aspects of the gang enhancement have been proved—including reasonable inferences based on the nature of the predicate offenses, the gang members who committed them, and the gang's primary activities.

D. In light of the trial evidence, reversal is not required under *Chapman*

Future cases will no doubt feature evidence that is more directly oriented to the new "common benefit" and "more than reputational" requirements than was the evidence at Cooper's pre-AB 333 trial. Nonetheless, the strong inferences that can be drawn from the evidence in this case leave no reasonable doubt that the jury's verdict would have been the same even had it been instructed on the new elements of the gang enhancement. Affirmance is therefore appropriate under *Chapman*. (See *Neder*, *supra*, 527 U.S. at p. 19; accord, *Mil*, *supra*, 53 Cal.4th at p. 417.)

The People's gang expert, Detective Sumner, testified in detail about the history and inner workings of Compton-area gangs, including Leuders Park. (See 3RT 2426-2474.) Among other things, he explained that Leuders Park's primary activities include robbery and narcotics sales. (3RT 2451.) He also explained that money is a gang's most important commodity. (3RT 2460.) Robbery and narcotics sales are offenses that inherently involve a financial benefit. Importantly, moreover, he explained that those types of offenses are committed by the "most active guys" in Leuders Park, as opposed to members that merely "play the role of a gang member and act hard." (3RT 2434.) More specifically, Detective Sumner testified that Mahan, the perpetrator of the narcotics sales predicate offense, was "[p]robably the most senior Leuders Park Piru gang member on the street right now" (3RT 2454), and that Vaughn, the perpetrator of the predicate robbery offense, was a well-known and admitted Leuders Park member (3RT 2452).

Taken together, this evidence unmistakably showed that the predicate offenses commonly benefitted the gang in a way that was more than reputational. Such offenses may of course be committed by gang members only for personal gain (which, relatedly, may benefit the gang only reputationally). But here, the gang expert's testimony made clear that those types of crimes are within the core activity of Leuders Park, that they are typically—and were here—committed by the most active or most senior gang members, and that financial gain is vital to the gang. Given that context, there is no reasonable doubt that the jury, had it been given updated instructions, would have drawn the reasonable inference that the predicate offenses put forward by the prosecution provided Leuders Park a common benefit that was more than reputational.

Cooper points to several recent Court of Appeal decisions reversing pre-AB 333 gang enhancements in light of the intervening statutory amendments. (OBM 39-40, 42-43.) Those decisions are of limited relevance here.

The decision in *People v. Lopez* (2021) 73 Cal.App.5th 327 does not make clear whether the Court of Appeal there concluded that reversal was required under a harmless error standard or whether it determined that the error was not amenable to

harmless error analysis at all. (*Id.* at p. 346 ["To rule that the existence of evidence in the record that would permit a jury to make a particular finding means that the jury need not actually be asked to make that finding would usurp the jury's role and violate Lopez's right to a jury trial on all the elements of the charged allegations"].) To the extent *Lopez* declined to apply the *Chapman* standard, it erred for the reasons discussed above. (See Arg. B, *ante*.)

In any event, *Lopez* does not usefully inform the analysis here. The charged offenses in *Lopez* included three murders and the sale of methamphetamine. (Lopez, supra, 73 Cal.App.5th at p. 331.) The predicate offenses were two murders committed by gang member William Vasquez and a carjacking and robbery committed by gang member Guillermo de Los Angeles. (*Id.* at p. 344.) On appeal, the People contended that "there exists evidence that [the predicate crimes] benefitted the gang in a way compliant with the new statutory provisions." (Id. at p. 346.) The Court of Appeal rejected that argument on the ground that "the evidence described by the People in their supplemental briefing was not evidence presented to the jury in this case instead, the People draw their information from unpublished appellate decisions concerning Vasquez and a codefendant of De Los Angeles." (*Ibid.*) Here, in contrast, the harmless error determination may properly be based on the testimony given by the gang expert at trial.

In *People v. Sek* (2022) 74 Cal.App.5th 657, the Court of Appeal purported to apply *Chapman* but concluded that reversal

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